1987

Matter of Adoption v. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to hear this matter pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Ann. Section 78-2a-3(2)(g) (1987) and Rule 4(a) of the Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals.

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from the judgment of the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, the Honorable Richard H. Moffat presiding, reversing the ruling of Judge Michael R. Murphy and allowing the natural mother of infant anonymous to revoke her consent to the adoption of the child and dismissing the appellant's petition for adoption.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Once a district court judge has held that consent is voluntary, pursuant to the requirements of Utah Code Ann. Section 78-30-8 (1987), can another district court judge reverse

that decision and allow consent to be revoked upon the grounds that it was not voluntary?

2. May a trial court permit a party to revoke consent to adoption, given in open court, based upon the consenting party's unilateral mistake?

3. In the face of conflicting affidavits, may a trial court, without holding an evidentiary hearing, grant a motion for revocation of consent to an adoption upon the grounds that the consent was not voluntarily given.

STATUTES

Utah Code Ann. 78-30-8 (1987):

Procedure - Agreement of adopting parents. The person adopting a child and the child adopted, and the other persons whose consent is necessary, must appear before the district court of the county where the person adopting resides, and the necessary consent must thereupon be signed and an agreement be executed by the person adopting to the effect that the child shall be adopted and treated in all respects as his own lawful child; provided, that if a person whose consent is necessary is not within the county the court may, in the same manner as is or may be provided for the taking of depositions in civil cases, appoint a commissioner to examine such person upon his deposition and to take his written consent and to certify the same to the court. The commissioner shall explain to such person the legal significance of such consent, and shall certify to the court his findings as to whether or not the consent is freely given. Where such person is within the state of Utah the commission shall issue to a judge of the district court of the county in which such person is located.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Infant anonymous was born on June 23, 1987, at 4:19 am. (R. 116; Addendum "A" at p. 2)¹ On or about March 31, 1987, approximately three months prior to the child's birth, the natural mother (the "respondent") visited the Utah Women's Health Center to "determine the duration of her then-existing pregnancy." (R. 41; Addendum "B" at p. 2 paragraph 4) Thereafter, Susan Bagley, a counselor at the Utah Women's Health Center, counseled respondent extensively "respecting her decision to place her child for adoption."² (R. 41; Addendum "B" at p. 2 paragraph 5) At no time did she advocate adoption over the other alternatives available to respondent. (R. 41; Addendum "B" at p. 2 paragraph 6) During the course of the counseling, respondent remained resolute in her desire to place the child for adoption. (R. 41-42; Addendum "B" at p. 2-3 paragraphs 7 & 8) Dr. Cynthia Jones, respondent's obstetrician, also informed respondent of her options with regard to the pregnancy, including the option of retaining the child, without advocating any of the alternatives.

¹ Copies of the portions of the court's record of central importance are attached to this brief as addenda. Thus, the facts set forth in this brief are cited both to the court's record and to the addendum in which that part of the record is reproduced. In the interest of preserving the confidentiality of the parties' identities, the names of the parties, which may be found in several of the documents in the court record, have been concealed in the copies attached in the addenda.

² Susan Bagley is the Assistant Director of the Utah Women's Health Center. She has a bachelor of science degree in Behavioral Science and Health and specializes in counseling pregnant women about various matters including the decision to place a child for adoption. (R. 41; Addendum "B" at p. 1 paragraph 2)

(R. 48; Addendum "C" at p. 2 paragraphs 3 & 6) Although she habitually notes any sign of hesitancy on the part of a woman who has indicated a desire to place a child for adoption, the doctor's records do not reflect, nor does she recall, that respondent ever demonstrated any reluctance whatsoever about her decision to place her child for adoption. (R. 48; Addendum "C" at p. 2 paragraphs 7-10).

After it became apparent that the respondent's decision was final, Ms. Bagley and respondent made an appointment to consult with Lincoln W. Hobbs, former attorney for the adoptive parents (the "petitioners"), to discuss the possibility of a private adoption. That meeting took place on June 5, 1987 at approximately 11:00 a.m. (R. 42; Addendum "B" at p. 3 paragraph 9) During the meeting, Mr. Hobbs informed the respondent that he was the attorney for the adoptive parents and that if she had a legal question she should direct it to her own counsel as he had a conflict of interest in advising her of her legal rights. (R. 42; Addendum "B" at p.3 paragraph 10a) Mr. Hobbs also informed respondent that she would have to sign a consent to the adoption in front of a judge and that, after she signed the consent her rights to the infant would be irrevocably terminated. (R. 42; Addendum "B" at p. 3 paragraph 10b) After that meeting, Ms. Bagley had several conversations with respondent in which they discussed the finality of her decision to relinquish her rights to the child. (R. 42; Addendum "B" at p. 3 paragraph 11)

During labor, respondent repeatedly stated that she wished that she could have the baby and return home to her "normal" lifestyle; she wavered as to whether she wanted to see the baby after the delivery or even know its sex. (R. 43; Addendum "B" at p. 4 paragraph 13) At no time did she express reservations about her desire to place the child for adoption. (R. 43; Addendum "B" at p. 4. paragraph 14.)

On June 24, 1987, approximately thirty hours after the child's birth, respondent, Ms. Bagley and Mr. Hobbs met at the Third Judicial District Court for the purpose of executing the consent to adoption in the manner proscribed by Utah Code Ann. Section 70-30-8 (1987). (R. 43; Addendum "B" at p. 4 paragraph 15) Prior to the hearing, Mr. Hobbs provided respondent with a copy of the Affidavit Relinquishing Parental Rights and Consenting to Adoption and asked her to review the document, which she did. (R. 43; Addendum "B" at p. 4 paragraphs 16-17)

Judge Michael R. Murphy presided over the hearing on Consent to Adoption. Mr. Hobbs opened by noting that he had provided respondent with a copy of the affidavit relinquishing her parental rights and that she had indicated that she understood the document. (R. 117; Addendum "A" at p. 3). Respondent was sworn and, under oath, testified that she had read the affidavit and that she believed that the best interests of the child would be served if she relinquished any parental rights and consented to the adoption because she could not financially support the child. (R. 117; Addendum "A" at p. 3) Judge Murphy

then asked respondent: "Do you understand -- for want of a better word -- the finality of this? That if it goes forward, that you relinquish all parental rights forever." Respondent replied "Yes, I do." (R. 117; Addendum "A" at p. 3) Respondent further testified that she acted freely, and voluntarily, without force from anyone and in accord with her "own decision." (R. 117; Addendum "A" at p. 3) She testified that she had seen the child and that it did not impact upon the fact that she had "decided all along to have this adoption go through." Respondent reiterated that she understood "there [would] not be any further rights" for her. Judge Murphy, apparently convinced, acknowledged her statement. (R. 117-18; Addendum "A" at pp. 3-4)

Mr. Hobbs then asked the respondent if she was under the influence of any drugs that would impair her ability to make a knowing consent. She replied that she was not. (R. 118; Addendum "A" at p. 4) Respondent further assured Judge Murphy that she was only on medication for her stitches and that it did not interfere with her ability to know and understand what she was doing. (R. 118-19; Addendum "A" at pp. 4-5). This fact was confirmed by respondent's doctor, who noted that respondent had not been prescribed any medication that would have impaired her ability to make an informed decision about the consent at the time of the hearing. (R. 48; Addendum "C" at p 2 paragraph 5.)

Respondent was then permitted to execute the Affidavit Relinquishing Parental Rights and Consenting to Adoption (the "Affidavit". The Affidavit states:

I hereby relinquish all of my parental rights which exist to and with Infant Anonymous. . . and I expressly consent to the adoption of the child by persons appearing before the Court, with full knowledge that by so doing I forfeit each and every right which might otherwise exist with reference to the custody and parental relationship of the child.

(R. 9; Addendum "D" at p. 2 paragraph 4) In the Affidavit, respondent further attests that she has read the document and fully understands the impact of its terms. (R. 9; Addendum "D" at p. 2 paragraph 5).

On the same day that the Affidavit was signed, the petitioners filed their Petition For Leave To Adopt and For Temporary Custody. (R. 2-5; Addendum "E") Having reviewed the Petition and witnessed the signing of the Affidavit, Judge Murphy held that the consent of the mother had been given in accordance with the Utah Code Ann. Section 78-30-8 and specifically found that:

the [respondent's] consent was given with the knowledge that by the execution of the consent she thereupon relinquished all parental rights as well as parental responsibilities in and to the child.

(R. 7; Addendum "F" at p. 2 paragraph 3). Consequently, Judge Murphy granted temporary custody to the adoptive parents and the child was released from Holy Cross Hospital to their custody. (R. 6-7; Addendum "F")

Several days after signing the Affidavit, respondent contacted Ms. Bagley and stated that she had spoken with her mother, who had been ignorant of respondent's pregnancy.³

³ Respondent was over 18 years old at all times relevant to this appeal. (R. 41; Addendum "B" at p. 2 paragraph 4.)

Respondent's mother had, apparently, expressed reservations about respondent's decision to place the child for adoption. Consequently, respondent informed Ms. Bagley that she had "changed her mind" about her consent to the adoption. (R. 45; Addendum "B" at p. 6 paragraph 23)

On July 22, 1987 respondent filed a Motion "pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure for an Order setting aside the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of Adoption and allowing the [respondent] to withdraw her consent to the adoption." (R. 11; Addendum "G") In support of that Motion, respondent submitted an Affidavit stating that she should be allowed to withdraw her consent because, at the time she gave the consent, she was under the influence of pain medication and so weakened by the childbirth that she was left "without sufficient will and strength to properly evaluate the matter." (R. 22; Addendum "H" at paragraph 3) Respondent further alleged that she was "informed and believed" that the consent was not final for six months and that she had that period of time in which to change her mind. (R. 22; Addendum "H" at paragraph 6) In opposition to the respondent's Motion, the petitioners submitted the affidavits of Susan Bagley and Dr. Jones, which are attached hereto as addenda "B" and "C" respectively.

The respondent's Motion came on for hearing on August 31, 1987, the Honorable Richard H. Moffat, presiding. The court's Minute Entry, filed September 1, 1987, recites Judge Moffat's ruling that the respondent "did not freely and voluntarily given

[sic] an unconditional release of her parental rights." (R. 57; Addendum "I" at p. 2). Judge Moffat supported his conclusion with two findings. First Judge Moffat expressed his belief that the language found in the transcript of the hearing before Judge Murphy, specifically, the fact that Judge Murphy asked the respondent if she understood that "if it goes forward" she relinquished her parental rights forever, supported the respondent's allegation that she believed that she had six months in which to revoke her consent. (R. 57; Addendum "I" at p. 2). Next, Judge Moffat noted that he was "impressed by the fact that the natural mother did not consult with members of the family, including her own mother, until after the birth of the child, but was consulted only by a counselor at the Utah Women's Health Center." (R. 57; Addendum "I" at p. 2) Consequently, Judge Moffat ordered that custody of the child be returned to the respondent. (R. 58; Addendum "I" at p. 3) Shortly thereafter, Mr. Hobbs withdrew as counsel for the petitioners and David S. Dolowitz entered his appearance. (R. 60 & 62)

The petitioners filed a Motion for Stay of Judge Moffat's Order and a Protective Motion for New Trial on the basis that the court had erred in setting aside the consent given in front of, and accepted by, another district court and in ruling upon the conflicting affidavits submitted by the parties without holding an evidentiary hearing. (R. 66-68)

The petitioners' Motions were heard by Judge Moffat on September 23, 1987. The court denied the Motions on the basis

that neither party had initially "expressed a desire to have the judge who took the consent hear the matter" nor requested an evidentiary hearing. (R. 87-88; Addendum "J")

Petitioners requested Judge Moffat to stay his Order pending an appeal. (R. 64) A copy of the Motion for Stay was mailed to respondent's counsel. (R. 65) That Motion was denied and on September 25, 1987, petitioners perfected the instant appeal and filed a Motion for Stay in this Court, which was also mailed to respondent's counsel. This Court entered an Order of Stay of Execution pending a hearing on petitioners' Motion for Stay, which was scheduled for hearing on October 17, 1987. No response to petitioners' Motion for Stay was filed and the matter was stricken from the Court's calender.

On September 30, 1987, respondent filed a proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment and Order, which were intended to encompass the ruling set forth in both of Judge Moffat's minute Orders. (R. 93 & 100) Petitioners promptly objected to the form of the Order (R. 105). Acknowledging the importance of expediting the matter, petitioners' counsel offered to resolve the objections in a phone conference between Judge Moffat and the parties' counsel. (R. 103) Respondent's counsel did not respond to petitioner's objections. Consequently, on or about October 14, 1987, petitioners moved this Court for an Order delaying the filing of the docketing statement until a final

order was entered in the District Court. That Motion was granted on or about October 16, 1987.⁴

On or about December 3, 1987, without contacting petitioners' counsel regarding petitioners' objections, respondent's counsel submitted another set of proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order and Judgment to the District Court. (Addendum "K") The documents were not mailed to petitioners' counsel of record as required by the Rules of Practice in the District Court. (See mailing certificates on pleading attached as Addendum "K") Nonetheless, they were executed and entered by the District Court on December 3, 1987.

Upon discovery of the entry of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment and Order, petitioners refiled their Objections thereto and set the Objections for hearing on January 15, 1988. (Addendum "L"). Upon request from respondent's counsel, petitioners agreed, at the last minute, to continue the hearing on their Objections to February 5, 1988. (See Addendum "M" and "O") However, because neither party appeared at the hearing on January 15, 1988, the District Court dismissed petitioners Objections. (Addendum "N").

⁴ The record hereinafter cited by petitioners is either found in the record in the Court of Appeals or is part of the record of the District Court made after the index on appeal was transmitted to the Court of Appeal, which has not as of this writing, been numbered for reference. To avoid confusion, all district court documents submitted after the index on appeal was drafted are attached as addenda. Petitioners apologize for the fact that the need to attach these documents as addenda has made this brief somewhat voluminous.

Consequently, petitioners were forced to file a Motion to Vacate Ruling, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order and Judgment. (Addendum "O") That Motion was heard on February 5, 1988 at which time counsel for the respondents acknowledged his errors and the District Court held that respondent had violated the Rule of Practice requiring that the pleadings be submitted to opposing counsel. (Addendum "P") The District Court heard the objections to the proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment and Order and penned in modifications which are reflected in the copies attached hereto as Addendum "K" Petitioner's counsel prepared an Order reflecting the District Court's ruling and submitted the Order to respondent's counsel for approval. Respondent's counsel has not, at the time of this writing, either returned the Order to petitioners or filed it with the court. Consequently, petitioners have prepared a duplicate original Order (Addendum "P") and submitted it to the trial court.

As a result of the multiple complications, this appeal is being processed and this brief submitted although the matter has not been fully concluded by the District Court. The child, now approximately nine months old, remains in the petitioners' custody.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I

One judge cannot reverse the decision of another co-equal judge. That rule governs unless it results in a manifest

injustice. In this case, the respondent filed a motion for relief from Judge Murphy's ruling and the only facts offered in support of that motion are contained in respondent's affidavit, in which she directly contradicts the testimony that she gave before Judge Murphy. Under these circumstances, a manifest injustice occurred when respondent was not required to bring her motion before Judge Murphy. Consequently, Judge Moffat erred by reversing Judge Murphy's ruling that respondent had voluntarily relinquished her parental rights and consented to the child's adoption.

POINT II

Once consent to adoption is duly executed and accepted before a court in conformity with the requirements of Utah Code Ann. Section 78-30-8 (1987), it cannot be revoked absent a finding that the consent was procured through fraud, undue influence or misrepresentation. In the instant case, the trial court did not find that respondent's consent was procured by fraud, undue influence or misrepresentation. Further, the record is devoid of any facts that would support such a finding. Consequently, the trial court erred in allowing respondent to revoke her consent to the adoption.

In addition, a trial court cannot make determinations of fact based upon conflicting affidavits. The only evidence before the trial court in this case was the affidavits submitted by the parties, which directly contradicted one another. Consequently,

the trial court erred in ruling on the factual issues raised by those affidavits without holding an evidentiary hearing.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

ONE DISTRICT COURT JUDGE CANNOT REVERSE THE RULING OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT JUDGE. CONSEQUENTLY, JUDGE MOFFAT ERRED IN OVERRULING JUDGE MURPHY'S HOLDING THAT RESPONDENT'S CONSENT TO ADOPTION WAS VOLUNTARILY GIVEN.

Embedded firmly in Utah law is the edict that, absent extraordinary circumstances, one district court judge cannot reverse the ruling of another district court judge. See e.g. Conder v. Williams & Ass'n, 739 P.2d 634, 636 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) ("a court should not reconsider and overrule a decision made by a co-equal court."); State v. Saunders, 699 P.2d 738, 740 (Utah 1985); Peterson v. Peterson, 530 P.2d 821, 823 (Utah 1974); State v. Morgan, 527 P.2d 225, 226 (Utah 1974); Tanner v. Meacham (In the Matter of Meacham), 537 P.2d 312, 314 (Utah 1975) ("one judge of one division of the same court cannot act as an appellate court and overrule another such judge")

The evolution of that edict has been accredited to the need to "avoid the delay and difficulties that arise when one judge is presented with an issue identical to one which has already been passed upon by a coordinate judge in the same case." Conder, 739 P.2d at 636 citing Sittner v. Big Horn Tar Sands & Oil, Inc., 692 P.2d 735, 736 (Utah 1984) Equally supportive of the need for judicial restraint where an issue has been ruled upon by another co-equal judge is the possibility that, absent such restraint, any time parties were unsatisfied with the ruling of a trial

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