1987

Matter of Adoption v. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I

A party's failure to object to Judge Moffat hearing the matter prior to the rendering of his decision constitutes a waiver of the right to later object to his ruling. The first hearing set on August 31, 1987, pursuant to Respondent's Motion to Set Aside the Consent, Judge Moffat specifically addressed the issue of whether he should hear the case and counsel for both Appellants and Respondent made no objection to Judge Moffat

hearing the matter and in fact both parties argued the matter at that time. Consequently, the Appellants have waived their right to have the matter retried before Judge Murphy solely because they are not pleased with the outcome.

POINT II

Also, at the initial hearing on August 31, 1987, neither party raised the issue nor requested an evidentiary hearing. Both the Respondent and Appellants made no objection to arguing the motion as opposed to calling in witnesses and, proffered the testimony which would otherwise be given. At that point, the parties waived their right to an evidentiary hearing.

Once the affidavits and oral argument were presented to Judge Moffat then Judge Moffat had the responsibility of making a decision based upon the arguments and affidavits as well as to assess the credibility of the affidavits and evidence and to make a decision based thereon.

POINT III

In order for the ruling of Judge Moffat to constitute a reversal, it would be necessary for Judge Murphy to have previously ruled in an adversarial proceeding as to whether the original consent should or should not have been set aside. The fact of the matter is that Judge Murphy never addressed the issue of whether it was appropriate to set aside the consent nor did Judge Murphy ever make a ruling as to whether the circumstances

warranted a setting aside of the natural mother's consent. Judge Moffat's Ruling setting aside the consent was a matter which was heard for the first time by Judge Moffat who is the only judge who has ruled on the matter and in no way constitutes a reversal of any decision made by Judge Murphy or any other judge.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PARTIES ARE BOUND WHEN COUNSEL WAIVES CERTAIN RIGHTS
AND CONSEQUENTLY, APPELLANTS' FAILURE TO OBJECT TO
JUDGE MOFFAT HEARING THE MATTER PRECLUDES APPELLANTS
FROM NOW ASSERTING THAT JUDGE MOFFAT INAPPROPRIATELY
RULED ON THE MATTER

Throughout Appellants' argument to Point I, they appropriately set out that a party who is not satisfied with a ruling of a Judge should be precluded from presenting the issue to a co-equal judge or, to forum shop until a favorable forum is found. In addition, Appellants correctly assert that one co-equal court can not over-rule another co-equal court. Respondent makes no argument and, in fact, agrees that those are correct principles of law. However, frankly, those principles of law do not support Appellants' position.

For some reason, Appellants have resolved that the natural mother in bringing her Petition before Judge Moffat was forum shopping or looking for some advantage in having the matter heard before Judge Moffat as opposed to Judge Murphy. In fact,

Appellants assert:

At minimum, Respondent should be asked to face the judge to whom she initially testified and convince that judge that he erred when he accepted her initial testimony as true and released the child to the Petitioners. (See page 17 and 18, Appellants' Brief.)

The allegations that the natural mother preferred one judge as opposed to another is ill founded and completely ignores the critical periods of time relative to which judge should hear the matter. At the time the natural mother filed her motion in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, there was no reason for the natural mother to believe that the case would be assigned to Judge Moffat as opposed to any other Third District Judge. In fact, at that time, the natural inclination would be that the matter would be assigned to Judge Murphy as opposed to some other judge. The assignment of the matter to one judge as opposed to another was a decision which was made wholly by third parties for which the natural mother had no control or input. The allegations by Appellants that Judge Murphy should have heard the matter as opposed to Judge Moffat was a decision which was made by persons completely unattached to these proceedings. When Appellants assert in their brief that:

It is not uncommon that the parties on both sides of an issue are not wholly satisfied with the ruling of a judge. Are they then allowed to present the issue to another co-equal judge so long as neither party expressed a desire to have the first judge hear the issue again? If so, the policy behind the rule would be effectively undermined. (See Appellants' Brief

page 18.)

It is difficult to understand how the argument cited supra by Appellants can support their position. Certainly at the time the natural mother filed her motion in the Third District, the natural assumption would be that Judge Murphy would be the judge assigned to hear the motion.

At the time the matter was set for hearing, a notice was given that the motion would be heard before Judge Moffat as opposed to Judge Murphy. Appellants made no objection at that time as to the forum or the judge who would preside. At the time both parties actually came before Judge Moffat to present argument on the motion, Appellants made no objection to Judge Moffat presiding. In fact, as can be seen in the transcript attached as Exhibit "A" , there was no indication anywhere in the proceedings that Appellants had any feelings one way or the other which judge heard the matter. At the time oral argument was heard before Judge Moffat, the natural mother had no reason to believe that Judge Moffat's Court would be any more or less favorable to her position than Judge Murphy's Court. In short, at the time oral argument was heard on the natural mother's petition, the natural mother had no preference as to the forum and it appears that counsel for Appellants had no preference as to the forum because no objection was made. At no time prior to the time Judge Moffat rendered his decision did the natural

mother have a preference of forum and had Appellants objected to Judge Moffat presiding, the natural mother would not have resisted the motion being reassigned to Judge Murphy.

It is only after a decision has been rendered adjudicating the rights of the respective parties that the natural mother has an objection to a change in forum. The fact of the matter that Appellants have remained silent until after a decision has been rendered and only then complains as to the forum, is prejudicial and unfair to the natural mother.

When Appellants speak in their brief of sound policy considerations and the need for efficient consistent administration of a case, it would be entirely improper to allow Appellants to set back and wait for a decision to be rendered on the merits and only after realizing an adverse decision to be able to claim that Judge Moffat should not have heard the matter.

Appellants' argument in Point I of their brief also sets out at length that the natural mother directly attacked Judge Murphy's finding that her consent had been knowingly and voluntarily given and that her affidavit supporting her motion to set aside the consent contradicted the testimony which she gave Judge Murphy at the time the consent was originally taken. (See page 16 and 17 of Appellants' Brief.) Certainly, Respondent would not agree with the characterization set out by Appellants but the point is that Judge Moffat had a complete copy of the

transcript setting out verbatim the questions which were asked and answered at the time the original consent was offered to Judge Murphy. In essence, Judge Moffat read every word that was spoken in the proceedings in which the consent was obtained and, therefore, was fully aware of what went on before Judge Murphy and was fully apprised of those facts when he rendered his decision. There is no reason to believe that Judge Murphy would have ruled any differently than Judge Moffat had ruled had the matter been decided before him. Consequently, after a decision has been rendered by Judge Moffat, being fully apprised of the facts, to have the matter reheard before Judge Murphy would only mean that Appellants would have a second shot of obtaining a favorable decision, the very thing they claim and cite authorities for as being inappropriate. Consequently, when Appellants state:

Justice is not served by allowing Respondent to rescind the testimony given before one judge by submitting contradictory testimony to another judge.
(See page 17 of Appellants' Brief.)

Appellants ignore the fact that Judge Moffat had the benefit of the transcript from the original consent proceedings and was fully aware of what went on at the time the consent was given.

There is no question that the issue of whether Judge Moffat should decide the matter was raised and contemplated by the parties and the Court and that counsel for both parties agreed to allow Judge Moffat to preside over the matter. Judge Moffat's

Minute Entry attached as Addendum "F" states:

The reason for said denial is that while the matter should perhaps have initially been heard by the judge that took the consent, this Court discussed that matter with counsel for the parties at the time of the initial hearing herein and neither party expressed a desire to have the judge who took the consent hear the matter. In addition, the matter was submitted on affidavits and oral argument, without any request for entry of additional evidence. It is the Court's opinion that had the parties asked either to have the original judge hear the matter or have an evidentiary hearing, both of said motions would have been granted. However, having not done so, this Court is of the opinion that those matters have been waived.

A majority of the adjacent jurisdictions have also held that when a party participates in proceedings which are substantive and makes no objection to a particular judge presiding that a party's right to object to the judge presiding is waived. The Supreme Court of Alaska has stated as follows:

We conclude that Sebring waived his right to a peremptory challenge once Judge Carlson presided over the first trial. Civil Rule 42(c)(4)(i) provides that a party waives the right to challenge a particular judge when s/he knowingly participates in any judicial proceeding which concerns the merits of the action and involves the consideration of evidence or of affidavits . . .

Sebring vs. Colver 649 P.2d 932, 935 (Alaska 1982). See also State Ex Rel Welfare Division vs. Eighth Judicial District Court 462 P.2d 37 (Nevada 1969).

The Washington Court of Appeals has held:

One who claims a judge trying claimant's case is biased may waive his right to complain thereof by not timely raising the objection and proceeding with trial

or continuing with the pending trial as if the judge were not disqualified. This rule is applicable when disqualification of the judge is sought under RCW 4.12.040 and 2.28.030. (Citations omitted.) We see no reason for not applying a like rule when the disqualification claim is based on due process grounds. Even a due process right may be waived. See In Re Borchert 57 Wash. 2d 719, 359 P.2d 789 (1961). Were the rule otherwise a litigant, notwithstanding his knowledge of the disqualifying factor, could speculate on the successful outcome of the case and then, having put the Court, counsel and the parties to the trouble and expense of the trial, treat any judgment entered as subject to successful attack. (Emphasis added.)

Brauhn vs. Brauhn 518 P.2d 1089, 1092 (Wash. 1974.)

Appellants cite several cases for the proposition that co-equal judges cannot over-rule or reverse another co-equal judge.

The Federal Court of Appeals of Florida in Atlantic Coastline R. Co. vs. St. Joe Paper Co. 216 F.2d 832, 833 (C.A.Fla.) defined a reversal as follows:

To reverse a judgment means to overthrow it by contrary decision, make it void, undue or annul it forever.

The critical question, therefore, is whether the taking of a consent constitutes a judgment for which a motion to set aside the consent would act as a reversal.

Frankly speaking, the issue as to whether or not the consent should be set aside in the above-entitled case has only been addressed by one judge, Judge Moffat. The issue of whether it was appropriate to set aside the consent was never addressed or brought before Judge Murphy and, therefore, there can be no

reversal of a judgment by Judge Moffat because there was no judgment ever entered to be reversed.

Respondent's do not refute the law cited by Appellants which states that one District Court Judge cannot reverse the ruling of a co-equal District Court Judge. Nor does the Respondent refute the proposition that litigants should not be allowed to forum shop and to bring their grievances between co-equal judges in an effort to obtain a favorable ruling. However, the proposition with regard to one District Court Judge over-ruling another is not the case nor the question presented by these proceedings.

As stated in the definition of reversal as cited in Atlantic Coastline Supra, there must first have been a judgment to reverse. Certainly all parties would agree that at the time Respondent brought her Motion to set aside the consent the only appropriate forum was to bring the matter in District Court. It would have been inappropriate at that time for Respondent to have brought the Motion in the Court of Appeals which would, in essence, have be required if one was to take Petitioners' claim to its logical conclusion. In other words, in order for Appellants to support the allegation that Judge Moffat's decision was reversing a co-equal judge would mean that Judge Murphy would have had to have previously considered the Motion and had ruled on the matter and, therefore, the appropriate forum would be for Respondents to go directly to the Court of Appeals. Certainly

those are not the facts nor law and, consequently, no reversal was made between two District Court Judges.

By analogy, when one looks at any other form of 60(b) motion, it is well accepted and established that it is not necessary for the same judge who hears the 60(b) motion also be the judge who actually rendered the judgment. Further no one would argue that in the event an alternative judge set aside the judgment pursuant to 60(b) that that decision was a reversal of the decision entered by the judge who rendered the judgment sought to be set aside.

In Appellants' brief, they contend that if a different judge hears the motion to set aside the consent as opposed to the judge who took the consent that the ruling by the judge on the motion to set aside would constitute a reversal of a co-equal judge. Appellants, however, cite no case law that those circumstances would constitute a reversal. Although Respondent has been unable to find case law in which a court of review has addressed the particular issue, there are several cases in which a different judge has heard the motion to set aside the consent as opposed to the original judge hearing the motion.

On March 13, 1969, Respondent filed a petition and motion with the Court to have the consent to adoption set aside and vacated and the care, custody and control of the infant restored to her. She claimed, at the time she signed the consent, that she was not aware of the nature and consequences of the act and was acting under undue influence, coercion and mistake.

The motion was heard by another judge who found Respondent knew and understood what was taking place when she signed the consent

In Re Adoption of K 465 P.2d 541 (Utah 1970).

When one reads the statute pertinent to the obtaining of a consent for adoption, it is apparent that it is not necessary for a judge to even make a ruling as to the validity of the consent.

. . . Provided, that if a person whose consent is necessary is not within the county, the Court may, in the same manner as is or may be provided for the taking of depositions in civil cases, appoint a commissioner to examine such person upon his deposition and to take his written consent and to certify the same to the Court. The Commissioner shall explain to such person the legal significance of such consent, and shall certify to the Court his findings as to whether or not the consent is freely given. Where such person is within the State of Utah, the commissioner shall issue to the judge of the District Court of the county in which such person is located. (Emphasis added.)

As set out in statute, the Court may appoint a commissioner who obtains the consent and to explain the consequences of signing said consent and then as per the statute, the commissioner is the one who certifies to the Court that the consent was freely given. If one were to follow the position of Appellants under those circumstances who would hear the motion to set aside the commissioner or a district judge. See also In the Matter of the Adoption of F, 488 P.2d 130 (Utah 1971).

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY ALLOWED RESPONDENT TO REVOKE HER CONESENT TO THE ADOPTION OF THE CHILD ON THE BASIS THAT SHE HAD BEEN INFORMED AND BELIEVED THAT SHE HAD SIX MONTHS TO CHANGE HER MIND AND AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING WAS NOT REQUIRED FOR RESPONDENT TO ARGUE HER MOTION TO SET ASIDE

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